RECEIVED

Aug 11 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001218
Case No. 2018-CP-40-4835

Joseph P. Sellaro, Respondent,

v.

The South Carolina Department of Social Services
and the Richland County Sheriff's Department, Defendants,

Of which, The South Carolina Department of
Social Services is the..... Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ANDREW F. LINDEMANN
LINDEMANN LAW FIRM, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

LAKE E. SUMMERS
MALONE THOMPSON
SUMMERS & OTT, LLC
339 Heyward Street, Suite 100

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in denying the Appellant's directed verdict and JNOV motions on the false imprisonment and negligence causes of action where the Seventy-Two Hour Hearing Order issued by the Family Court on March 1, 2016, conclusively establishes that probable cause existed for the Emergency Protective Custody from February 27, 2016 through March 7, 2016, and that order is not subject to collateral attack?

- II. Did the trial court err in denying the Appellant's directed verdict and JNOV motions on the false imprisonment and negligence causes of action where the Appellant was entitled to absolute sovereign immunity pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-78-60(1)-(4) of the Tort Claims Act?

- III. Did the trial court err in denying the Appellant's directed verdict and JNOV motions on the negligence cause of action where the Respondent failed to present expert testimony to establish the standard of care owed by the SCDSS employees and a breach of that standard of care?

- IV. Did the trial court err in denying the motion for new trial absolute because the Tort Claims Act immunity defenses were submitted to the jury rather than being adjudicated as an issue of law?

- V. Did the trial court err in denying the motion for new trial absolute where the verdict of \$300,000 is unsupported by the damages evidence in the record?

- VI. Did the trial court err in denying the motion for new trial absolute or alternatively motion for new trial nisi remittitur where the verdict of \$300,000 is grossly excessive or, at the very least, unduly liberal?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action for false imprisonment and negligence brought by the Respondent Joseph P. Sellaro against the Appellant South Carolina Department of Social Services (“SCDSS”). The action was also brought against the Defendant Richland County Sheriff’s Department (“RCSD”).

After the completion of discovery, the case proceeded to trial on May 16, 2022, before Circuit Court Judge Robert E. Hood and a Richland County jury. SCDSS moved for a directed verdict at the close of Sellaro’s case-in-chief, again at the close of the Defendant RCSD’s case-in-chief, and at the close of the evidence. The trial court denied those motions.

On May 19, 2022, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Sellaro on both the false imprisonment and negligence claims against SCDSS only. The jury found that the Defendant RCSD was not negligent and did not falsely imprison Sellaro. The jury awarded actual damages of \$300,000 against SCDSS. (R. 10-11).

SCDSS thereafter filed post trial motions including for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV), or alternatively, a new trial absolute or a new trial nisi remittitur. A hearing was held on the post-trial motions on July 28, 2022. Thereafter, on August 3, 2022, the trial court issued a Form Order denying all of the post-trial motions. (R. 7-9).

SCDSS thereafter filed a timely appeal to this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the evening of Saturday, February 27, 2016, Joseph Sellaro's wife, Eileen, died after a motor vehicle accident in Columbia, South Carolina. Richland County Deputy Coroner Zemulus Dozier, along with Carol Ann Outlaw, a close friend of the late Mrs. Sellaro, traveled to Sellaro's home to notify him of his wife's death. Investigator Reggie Gaymon, who serves in the Victim Advocacy Division of Richland County Sheriff's Department, Deputy Karen Wolf, and Master Deputy Edward Guyon also responded to Sellaro's home.

Deputy Coroner Dozier and Investigator Gaymon eventually requested assistance from Richland County's Emergency Services Department, and both a paramedic and emergency medical technician responded to their request.

Carol Ann Outlaw provided the sheriff's deputies with specific information regarding Joseph Sellaro's medical conditions which included dementia, a heart condition with a pacemaker, asthma, and diabetes. Outlaw also advised that Sellaro did not drive and could not take care of himself alone.

As neither Deputy Coroner Dozier, Investigator Gaymon, nor Deputy Wolf could locate anyone to care for or otherwise assist Sellaro in the immediate aftermath of his wife's death, Investigator Gaymon placed Sellaro into Emergency Protective Custody ("EPC") under S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-55 in the late evening hours of Saturday, February 27, 2016.

The EMS personnel then transported Sellaro to Palmetto Health Richland Hospital in Columbia, and, upon his admission between midnight and 1:00 a.m. on Sunday, February 28, 2016, Sellaro was transferred into SCDSS' care in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. §§ 43-35-45 and 43-35-55. Valorie Lawton-McDaniel, an SCDSS Adult Protective Services case manager, assumed Sellaro's case upon his admission to the hospital and after being placed in EPC. SCDSS personnel played no role in the placement of Sellaro in EPC.

SCDSS timely complied with S.C. Code Ann. §§ 43-35-55(E), (F), and (G). S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-55(F) requires the Family Court to "hold a hearing to determine whether there is probable cause for the protective custody within seventy-two hours of the Department of Social Services filing the petition [for protective custody required by S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-55(E)], excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays." In compliance with the applicable statutes, Family Court Judge James G. McGee, III conducted a 72-hour Probable Cause Hearing on Tuesday, March 1, 2016, and afterwards, he issued what he styled the Seventy-Two Hour Hearing Order. (R. 692-695). In paragraph 4 of that order, Judge McGee issued the following ruling:

The above facts clearly establish that there was ample probable cause for taking [Mr. Sellaro] into [EPC], and probable cause remains for [SCDSS] being ordered to have custody of [Mr. Sellaro] pending Merits Hearing. Based on the above information, [Mr. Sellaro], is a vulnerable adult, as defined by S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-10(11) (Supp. 2012), as he is a person

eighteen (18) years of age or older who is impaired in his ability to adequately provide for his own care and protection, and [Mr. Sellaro] is not being adequately cared for by others.

(R. 693). By his Seventy-Two Hour Hearing Order, Judge McGee granted SCDSS temporary legal custody of Joseph Sellaro, along with “the right to provide for and to authorize such routine and/or emergency medical case as may be required.” (R. 694).

On Thursday, March 3, 2016, the Family Court appointed a Guardian ad Litem for Sellaro named Victoria Deas-Johnson. After communicating with the guardian ad litem on March 4, 2016, J. Tyler Burns, who then served as a staff counsel for SCDSS, agreed to schedule a hearing before the Family Court on the next business day, Monday, March 7, 2016, regarding Sellaro’s EPC status.

At the hearing conducted on March 7, 2016, which served as the “merits hearing” required under S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-45(C), SCDSS consented to end Mr. Sellaro’s EPC, and Sellaro returned home the same day. A Bench Order was issued on that date by Family Court Judge John M. Rucker dismissing the EPC case. (R. 670).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for questions of law is *de novo*. The appellate court "may reverse where the decision is affected by any error of law." *Murphy v. Owens Corning*, 393 S.C. 77, 710 S.E.2d 454, 457 (Ct. App. 2011). The appellate courts are "free to decide matters of law with no particular deference to the fact finder." *Id.*

"In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried by a jury, [appellate courts] may only correct errors of law. The factual findings of the jury will not be disturbed unless no evidence reasonably supports the jury's findings." *Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Corp.*, 387 S.C. 22, 691 S.E.2d 135, 142 (2010).

"Whether to grant a new trial is a matter within the discretion of the trial judge, and this decision will not be disturbed on appeal unless it is unsupported by the evidence or is controlled by an error of law." *Austin*, 691 S.E.2d at 149.

ARGUMENTS

I. The trial court erred in denying the Appellant’s directed verdict and JNOV motions on both the negligence and the false imprisonment claims.

The trial court erred in denying SCDSS’s directed verdict and JNOV motions on both the negligence and the false imprisonment causes of action. The trial court erred in concluding that the existence of probable cause for the EPC was a question for the jury when, in actuality, a conclusive finding of probable cause had already made by the Family Court in a valid and lawful order issued pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-55(F). The trial court also erred in denying a directed verdict and JNOV on immunity defenses asserted pursuant to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act and given Sellaro’s failure to establish a standard of care by expert testimony.

A. Existence of Probable Cause

The Appellant SCDSS is entitled to a directed verdict and JNOV as to all claims because there was probable cause as a matter of law supporting the RCSD taking Sellaro into EPC on February 27, 2016, and for the Family Court to order the continuation of custody until the merits hearing was held on March 7, 2016.

Under South Carolina law, causes of action for false arrest and false imprisonment are the same. *See, Carter v. Bryant*, 429 S.C. 298, 838 S.E.2d 523, 527 (Ct. App. 2020) ("[f]alse arrest in South Carolina is also known as false imprisonment"). "The elements of the tort are intentional restraint of another without lawful justification." *Id.* "In order to establish a cause of action, the evidence must prove: (1) that the defendant restrained the plaintiff; (2) that the restraint was intentional; and (3) that the restraint was unlawful." *Andrews v. Piedmont Air Lines*, 297 S.C. 367, 377 S.E.2d 127, 130 (Ct. App. 1989).

SCDSS is entitled to a directed verdict and JNOV on all claims because there was probable cause for the EPC and for the continuation of custody through March 7, 2016. In effect, the existence of probable cause makes the restraint lawful, and hence, Sellaro's claims fail for that reason. South Carolina courts have consistently ruled that the absence of probable cause is an essential element for the state law causes of action for false imprisonment. *See, Jackson v. City of Abbeville*, 366 S.C. 662, 623 S.E.2d 656, 665, n. 4 (Ct. App. 2005). Thus, a finding of probable cause is fatal to that claim.

In addition, as a technical matter, a cause of action for "negligent imprisonment" or "negligent investigation" is not actually recognized under South Carolina law. In *Gist v. Berkeley County Sheriff's Department*, 336 S.C. 611, 521 S.E.2d 163 (Ct. App. 1999), the South Carolina Court of Appeals held that "[f]alse

imprisonment is an intentional tort; negligence is not an element." 521 S.E.2d at 167. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals concluded that "the gross negligence standard is not applicable" to claims for intentional torts. *Id.* Consequently, as the *Gist* decision demonstrates, there is really no separate cause of action for negligent imprisonment or negligence resulting in a false imprisonment or custodial situation. Sellaro's negligence claim is, therefore, really a reiteration or duplication of his false imprisonment claim. Hence, the existence of probable cause is also a bar to a cause of action for negligent imprisonment, assuming such a cause of action exists under South Carolina law. In other words, SCDSS cannot be found negligent where there was probable cause to support its actions with respect to the EPC and continuation of custody of Sellaro until March 7, 2016.

The evidence in the record that probable cause existed is undisputed but more importantly unassailable. The Family Court held a Seventy-Two Hour Probable Cause Hearing on March 1, 2016, in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. §§ 43-35-45(B) and 43-35-55(F). The record includes both the transcript of the Seventy-Two Hour Probable Cause Hearing and the Seventy-Two Hour Hearing Order that Judge McGee issued afterwards. In paragraph 4 of that order, Judge McGee ruled as follows:

The above facts clearly establish that there was ample probable cause for taking the [Plaintiff] into [EPC], and *probable cause remains for [SCDSS] being ordered to have custody of [the Plaintiff] pending Merits Hearing.* Based on the above

information, [the Plaintiff], is a vulnerable adult, as defined by S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-10(11) (Supp. 2012), as he is a person eighteen (18) years of age or older who is impaired in his ability to adequately provide for his own care and protection, and [the Plaintiff] is not being adequately cared for by others.

(R. 693). (Emphasis added).

Sellaro, however, is prohibited from collaterally attacking that order by the Family Court and its findings of fact and conclusions of law. Our Supreme Court's decision in *Argoe v. Three Rivers Behavioral Health, LLC*, 392 S.C. 462, 710 S.E.2d 67 (2011), is controlling. *Argoe* was a civil action for false imprisonment, defamation, and intentional infliction of emotional distress arising from an involuntary commitment of the plaintiff to an inpatient psychiatric facility. The plaintiff's tort claims were premised on the allegation that the commitment orders of the Probate Court were not "lawful" and were not factually supported. Based on that premise, the plaintiff argued that the inpatient psychiatric facility was not justified in detaining her. As addressed in detail in its opinion, the Supreme Court concluded that the plaintiff "is procedurally barred from challenging the validity of the underlying orders" and "[b]ased on the valid orders, we conclude that the circuit court judge correctly granted summary judgment in favor of Respondent." 710 S.E.2d at 71.

As the facts in *Argoe* demonstrate, the plaintiff failed to timely appeal the commitment orders issued by the Probate Court. The Supreme Court found the

commitment orders to be valid and “lawful.” Moreover, the Supreme Court ruled that “[plaintiff] was precluded from collaterally attacking the underlying commitment orders” where the commitment orders had not been timely appealed. 710 S.E.2d at 72. In adjudicating the plaintiff’s false imprisonment claim, the Supreme Court held that the plaintiff “was lawfully taken into custody and detained pursuant to valid probate court orders.” 710 S.E.2d at 73. Citing an article from *American Jurisprudence*, the Supreme Court explained:

A person confined pursuant to an authorized mental health commitment proceeding or process may not recover damages in a false imprisonment action. In accordance with the general rule dealing with confinement under process, even where the order of commitment is erroneously made, but is valid on its face and issued by a court of competent jurisdiction, the detention is not false imprisonment.

Id., citing 32 Am.Jur.2d *False Imprisonment* § 33 (2007). The Supreme Court also cited favorably to the case of *Manley v. Manley*, 291 S.C. 325, 353 S.E.2d 312 (Ct. App. 1987), in which this Court concluded that “[the] involuntary commitment of [a] mother, who claimed she was not mentally ill, was pursuant to a lawful order of the probate judge and, thus, was not a basis for recovery on a claim of false imprisonment against former husband, two adult children, and psychiatrist.” *Id.*, citing *Manley, supra*.

In effect, the issue of probable cause is conclusively established by the Family Court’s Seventy-Two Hour Hearing Order, and that order is not subject to

collateral attack in this litigation, just as was the case with the Probate Court commitment orders in *Argoe*. The Family Court order, whether correct or not, was valid on its face and was issued by a court of competent jurisdiction in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. §§ 43-35-45(B) and 43-35-55(F). There is no evidence that Sellaro timely appealed that Family Court order or that an appellate court reversed or vacated that order.¹ However, by allowing Sellaro to contest the issue of probable cause, despite the findings made by Judge McGee in an order that was never appealed or challenged, the trial court improperly allowed Sellaro to collaterally attack a valid and lawful Family Court order, which is akin to the commitment orders addressed in *Argoe*.

The Family Court order bars not only the false imprisonment claim, but Sellaro's negligence claim as well. According to the allegations of his Complaint, Sellaro's negligence claim is duplicative of the false arrest claim in that Sellaro alleges that SCDSS was negligent in "apprehending Plaintiff," "taking custody of Plaintiff," "retaining custody over the Plaintiff," and "refusing to relinquish custody and allow Plaintiff to leave hospital for ten days." *See*, Complaint, ¶ 30. (R. 16-17). In *Argoe*, the Supreme Court found that the other tort claims, not just the false imprisonment claim, were barred by the valid and lawful commitment

¹ Likewise, there is no evidence that Sellaro sought a writ of habeas corpus to challenge and invalidate that Family Court order. *See, Muhammad v. Geo Care*, 2011 WL 5827612, *1 (D.S.C. 2011) ("[c]laims challenging involuntary commitments to mental institutions are cognizable under 28 U.S.C. § 2254").

orders. The Supreme Court, in fact, held that plaintiff “could not, as a matter of law, maintain a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress against Respondent as Respondent’s conduct towards [plaintiff] was reasonable and in accordance with the valid probate court orders.” *Argoe*, 710 S.E.2d at 74. The same is true in this case. The valid and lawful Family Court order precludes Sellaro’s recovery on all tort claims, including his negligence claim.

In sum, based on the conclusive showing that probable cause existed for the EPC and the continued custody of Sellaro following the March 1, 2016 hearing, SCDSS is entitled to a directed verdict and JNOV on both the false imprisonment claim and the negligence claim.

B. Tort Claim Act Immunities

Even if the trial court was correct in finding that the issue of probable cause was for the jury, despite the finding of probable cause in the valid and lawful Family Court order, the Appellant SCDSS was nonetheless entitled to absolute immunity under the Tort Claims Act.² S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(3) precludes liability for a governmental agency for the “execution, enforcement, or

² In *Rayfield v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections*, 297 S.C. 95, 374 S.E.2d 910 (Ct. App. 1988), the Court of Appeals explained that “[o]ne who pleads immunity, conditionally admits the plaintiff’s case, but asserts his immunity as a bar to liability.” 374 S.E.2d at 916. Therefore, the assertion of any immunity defense assumes some finding of fault but nonetheless serves as a bar to liability.

implementation of the orders of any court or execution, enforcement, or lawful implementation of any process.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(3). Similarly, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(4) precludes liability for a governmental agency for the “[a]doption, enforcement, or compliance with any law.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(4). These provisions tend to work in tandem.

As the undisputed facts demonstrate, SCDSS assumed jurisdiction of Sellaro at Palmetto Health Richland Hospital in the early morning hours of Sunday, February 28, 2016, from the RCSD after the RCSD placed him into EPC in compliance with S.C. Code Ann. §§ 43-35-55(A), (B), (C), and (D). Thereafter, the record is conclusive that SCDSS enforced and complied with the procedures established by statute, namely S.C. Code Ann. §§ 43-35-45(B) and 43-35-55(D), (E), (F), and (G). The standard applicable to the RCSD’s decision to take Sellaro into EPC was whether “there [was] probable cause to believe that by reason of abuse, neglect, or exploitation there exists an imminent danger to the vulnerable adult’s life or physical safety.” *See*, S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-55(A)(1). SCDSS did not make the decision to place Sellaro in EPC. Instead, SCDSS complied with S.C. Code Ann. §43-35-55(E), and the Family Court timely conducted its March 1, 2016 Probable Cause Hearing pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-55(F), and thereafter issued its Seventy-Two Hour Hearing Order. (R. 692-695).

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