THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Aug 14 2023

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001218

Joseph P. Sellaro,.....Respondent,

v.

The South Carolina Department of Social Services and the Richland County
Sheriff's Department, Defendants,

Of which the South Carolina Department of Social Services is theAppellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BARNES LAW FIRM, LLC
Kathleen C. Barnes, SC Bar No. 78854
Post Office Box 897
Hampton, SC 29924
803-943-4529
kbarnes@barneslawfirm.com

BARRY B. GEORGE, P.A.
Paige B. George, SC Bar No. 75124
1419 Bull Street
Columbia, SC 29201

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

Argoe is not “controlling”, as DSS argues, because it is neither legally nor factually applicable to this case. The lower court correctly denied DSS’s motion on this issue, and this

¹ For example, in *S.C. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Patten*, 412 S.C. 93, 770 S.E.2d 192 (Ct. App. 2015), Mr. Patten appealed from the final merits hearing that found him a vulnerable adult. In this case, Joseph never even reached a final merits hearing because the attorney for his guardian ad litem moved to dismiss the case and DSS consented to dismissal. Therefore, there was nothing for Joseph to appeal.

Court should affirm. Even if the Court considers DSS's remaining arguments on this issue, it should still affirm.

DSS argues that Joseph's negligence claim is a "duplication of his false imprisonment claim" and, therefore, the alleged existence of probable cause bars the negligence claim as well. (Br. of App. pp. 8-9). The Court should reject this argument for three independent reasons.

First, it is unpreserved because DSS raised it for the first time in a post-trial motion. DSS moved for a directed verdict twice at trial but did not ever argue that the negligence claim is a duplication of the false imprisonment claim. (R. pp. 313-14, 489-93). "[A]n issue may not be raised for the first time in a post-trial motion." *Dawkins v. Mozie*, 399 S.C. 290, 295, 731 S.E.2d 342, 345 (Ct. App. 2012) (finding unpreserved an issue first raised "in a post-trial brief"). The Court should not consider this argument because DSS failed to preserve it.

Second, DSS mischaracterizes the negligence claim as one for "negligent imprisonment." (Br. of App. pp. 8-9). The negligence claim is for DSS's failure to exercise due care in fulfilling its statutory responsibilities to Joseph under the Omnibus Adult Protection Act. There is no law to prevent a plaintiff from asserting negligence and false imprisonment claims in that context.

Third, DSS argues that, because the *Argoe* Court affirmed the dismissal of all claims based on the orders in that case, this Court should grant a JNOV as to the negligence claim if it finds that the false imprisonment claim is precluded by the March 1, 2016 order. (Br. of App. pp. 12-13). *Argoe* is not controlling on this issue. *Argoe* affirmed summary judgment on a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress because the Court found the defendant's conduct "reasonable and in accordance with the valid probate court orders." 392 S.C. at 475-76, 710 S.E.2d at 74. The defendant was a facility that provided court-ordered treatment. It was not a party to the action against *Argoe*. Here, DSS was the plaintiff in the family court action against Joseph. The *Argoe*

holding was based on the particular facts of that case and is not a blanket rule that, if a false imprisonment claim fails as a matter of law, all other additional causes of action fail as well. *Argoe* is simply not the “smoking gun” that DSS wants it to be in this case.

The lower court correctly found the issue of probable cause was for the jury, and this Court should affirm its denial of DSS’s motions for a directed verdict and JNOV.

B. The lower court correctly held DSS is not entitled to immunity under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act as a matter of law.

The lower court correctly denied DSS’s motions for directed verdict and JNOV as to immunities under the SCTCA. DSS claims immunity under two provisions of the SCTCA—S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-78-60(3) and -60(4). These SCTCA exceptions provide immunity for an alleged loss arising out of the lawful implementation of process and the enforcement of state law. Neither is applicable as a matter of law.

Section 15-78-60(4) of the South Carolina Code provides the government immunity for “adoption enforcement, or compliance with any law . . . whether valid or invalid, including, but not limited to, any charter, provision, ordinance, resolution, rule, regulation, or written policies.” DSS argues it is entitled to immunity under § 15-78-60(4) because it “complied with” § 43-35-55 when it assumed custody of Joseph. (Br. of App. pp. 14-16). DSS argues that the Adult Protection Act did not require it to provide a copy of Joseph’s medical records to the judge because the statute discusses medical evaluations that must occur before the final merits hearing. (Br. of App. pp. 14-15). DSS misses the point—the statute does not prevent DSS from obtaining and providing the medical records at the 72-hour hearing. DSS could have, but did not, seek Joseph’s release at the 72-hour hearing. (R. pp. 685-90). Indeed, as our Supreme Court held, a person should “not spend any more time in [DSS] custody than *absolutely* necessary.” *S.C. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Patten*, 412 S.C. 93, 100, 770 S.E.2d 192, 196 (Ct. App. 2015) (emphasis added). Regardless of a statutory

requirement for the timing of an evaluation, DSS ordered them, knew they occurred, and received the results before the March 1 hearing. (R. p. 557). With that knowledge, it cannot sit by idly and keep Joseph in unnecessary custody until a final merits hearing. Edgerton, Joseph's DSS case manager, testified that she put Joseph's "medical records in his case file" and did not testify to even reading them. (R. p. 548).

The final merits hearing is to be held "[w]ithin forty days of the filing of a petition." S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-45(C) (emphasis added). That is not a required time period. Under DSS's argument, it would maintain custody of every adult for forty days regardless of its knowledge of the person's condition.² This is plainly not intended by the Act. *Patten*, 412 S.C. at 100, 770 S.E.2d at 196. Once DSS had Joseph's medical records, his custody was no longer necessary and DSS should have released him.

Section 15-78-60(3) of the South Carolina Code provides the government immunity for a loss resulting from "execution, enforcement, or implementation of the orders of any court or execution, enforcement, or lawful implementation of any process." DSS argues this provision entitles it to immunity for Joseph's custody from March 1 until March 7. (Br. of App. p. 16). Joseph argued, and the jury found, that DSS never should have gotten the order on March 1. If, as Joseph argues, DSS provided the medical records to the family court on March 1, it would not have obtained the order. DSS cannot rely on the fruits of its own negligence to seek immunity. DSS acted negligently in obtaining that order such that § 15-78-60(3) provides no immunity.

Finally, DSS argues for the first time on appeal that it is also immune under S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-78-60(1) and -60(2) "to the extent that [Joseph] was suing SCDSS for the conduct of

² When asked what has to be done to release someone from custody, Edgerton testified DSS gathers information and just waits for the merits hearing. (R. p. 549).

the witnesses in the March 1, 2016” hearing. (Br. of App. pp. 16-18). This is unpreserved and factually inapplicable. DSS states that these immunity provisions were “asserted in the directed verdict arguments” and cites to pages 607-608 of the trial transcript. (Br. of App. p. 16). Those pages contain argument by the lawyer for RCSD. (R. pp. 457-58). DSS never argued it was entitled to immunity under § 15-78-60(1) and -60(2).³ An “appellant cannot bootstrap an issue for appeal by way of a codefendant’s objection.” *Tupper v. Dorchester Cnty.*, 326 S.C. 318, 324 n.3, 487 S.E.2d 187, 190 n.3 (1997). DSS cannot cite these sections for the first time on appeal and cannot rely on another party’s argument for issue preservation. The Court should find the argument unpreserved.

Regardless, the sections are not factually applicable because no one from DSS testified at the March 1 hearing. (R. pp. 685-90). The only witness at the hearing was an RCSD officer representative. (R. pp. 685-90). Therefore, DSS is not entitled to immunity.

Finally, DSS refers to S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-75(A) as “an additional layer of immunity” but states that provision “was not litigated.” (Br. of App. p. 18 n.3). If it was not litigated, then it is not preserved. Regardless, DSS misreads the statute as in any way applicable to it. The statute applies to “a *person* who, acting in good faith, reports pursuant to this chapter or who participates in an investigation or judicial proceeding resulting from a report.” § 43-35-75(A) (emphasis added). DSS is a government entity that is not the intended subject of this immunity provision.

C. The lower court correctly denied DSS’s motions on the basis of expert testimony.

The lower court correctly denied DSS’s directed verdict and JNOV motions on the basis of an absence of expert testimony. (R. p. 314, 7).

³ Its post-trial motion mentions the code sections in a footnote only to state that the lower court found them “relevant to this litigation” in “its jury instructions.” (R. p. 46 n.2). They were relevant as to RCSD—the only party that argued them.

There is evidence of DSS's duty, standard of care, and deviation from the standard. The 72-hour hearing order states that DSS "is the agency charged with the duty of providing for the protection of vulnerable adults." (R. p. 692). It states that, according to S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-10(11), a vulnerable adult "is a person eighteen (18) years of age or older who is impaired in his ability to adequately provide for his own care and protection, and [] is not being adequately cared for by others." (R. p. 693).

Safiya Tate, Joseph's hospital case manager, testified that law enforcement decides to take a person into emergency protective custody and then, once at the hospital, DSS assumes a person's care. (R. pp. 152-54). Tate worked closely and frequently with DSS on protective custody cases. (R. p. 545). Tate's job is to be the point of contact and communicate with DSS about someone in protective custody. She testified that, in protective custody cases, DSS generally "would consult the psychiatric team . . . and do an assessment to determine whether or not that patient has capacity to make decisions and is safe to live alone." (R. p. 139). In this case, Tate faxed those records to DSS for the purpose of DSS including them "in the Court hearing so that they could make a good determination of whether or not [Joseph] needed to remain in care." (R. p. 139).

Dr. Jeffrey Brandenburg testified as an expert in general psychiatry. (R. p. 199). He evaluated Joseph and found "absolutely no patient medical or psychiatric needs." (R. p. 205). He found it "unclear why" Joseph was in protective custody. (R. p. 214). In his medical opinion, he did not see any reason for protective custody. (R. p. 220).

DSS case manager Valorie McDaniel testified that it is DSS's "responsibility" to "go out and assess if those allegations [of a vulnerable adult] are true or not true." (R. p. 501). She testified that "at the 72 hour court hearing, that is when it is to be determined whether or not the person is in imminent danger" and whether DSS "should retain care, custody, and control of" Joseph. (R.

pp. 512, 522). She testified that DSS is supposed to give the family court “relevant information” that it has “at the current time.” (R. p. 522). McDaniel denied having Joseph’s medical records at the time of the hearing but admitted that, if DSS had them, she had a “responsibility to put them in the Court’s hands.” (R. p. 523). McDaniel admitted that the evaluations DSS requested should have been done before the March 1 hearing but she did not even check on them. (R. pp. 526-27). Naqua Edgerton, Joseph’s DSS case manager, testified that she ordered his medical evaluations, knew they were completed, but did nothing to look for them before the 72-hour hearing. (R. pp. 557-59).

Viewing this evidence in a light most favorable to Joseph, there is evidence of DSS’s standard of care and that it breached that standard. DSS had knowledge and actual receipt of medical records showing no need for protective custody, and two DSS employees knew about the medical records but did not seek them out before the hearing. (R. pp. 139, 512, 522-23, 557-59).

For the first time on appeal, DSS cites to a case involving expert testimony in professional negligence cases. (Br. of App. p. 19). DSS never made that argument below in either a directed verdict or post-trial motion. (R. pp. 313, 489-92, 48-49, 718-19). Therefore, it is not preserved. *See Malloy v. Thompson*, 409 S.C. 557, 561, 762 S.E.2d 690, 692 (2014) (“[A]n issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” (internal quotation marks omitted)).

Regardless, the argument is legally meritless because this is not a professional negligence case. The only law that DSS cites to in its argument on this issue is a case that involved an engineer. *City of York v. Turner-Murphy Co.*, 317 S.C. 194, 195, 452 S.E.2d 615, 616 (Ct. App. 1994). This case involves DSS case managers and their alleged negligence in not presenting the family court with existing medical records that unequivocally show Joseph did not need to be in

protective custody. “In a professional negligence cause of action, the plaintiff must prove the professional failed to conform to generally recognized and accepted practices in the profession.” *Id.* at 196, 452 S.E.2d at 616-17. This is not a professional negligence case. *See, e.g.*, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100 (stating requirement for expert affidavit in “professional negligence” cases and list of applicable professions that does not include DSS). Joseph does not allege that DSS failed to conform to accepted practices in any alleged case manager profession. Rather, Joseph alleged and the jury found that DSS failed to reasonably fulfill its statutory duties.

Alternatively, even if DSS case managers are considered “professionals”, the facts of this case would fall within the “common knowledge exception” under which “expert testimony is not required where the common knowledge or experience of laymen is extensive enough to recognize or infer negligence on the part of the professional and to determine the presence of the required causal link between the professional’s performance and the alleged malpractice.” *Holmes v. Haynsworth, Sinkler & Boyd, P.A.*, 408 S.C. 620, 637 n.13, 760 S.E.2d 399, 408 n.13 (2014). A layman can understand that a reasonable case manager holding an unwilling adult in protective custody would look for and present a court (deciding the adult’s future for the next forty days) with medical evaluation records that she requested and knows are completed.

Finally, DSS argues it is entitled to a JNOV because the lower court allegedly “never found a duty of care owed” and did not charge the jury on the Adult Protection Act. (Br. p. 20). This is incorrect. The judge denied DSS’s directed verdict motion on the standard of care and expert testimony—plainly showing that the lower court found evidence of a duty. It ruled that the statute “defines the duties.” (R. p. 314). As to the jury charge, DSS does not cite law that requires a judge to charge a statute to the jury. In this case, the evidence already included testimony about the Adult Protection Act (including its purpose and procedure) and the 72-hour hearing. (R. pp. 152-

54, 139, 501, 512, 522-23, 692-94). As argued above, viewing this evidence in a light most favorable to Joseph, there was evidence of the standard of care.

Viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to Joseph, he presented evidence of DSS's standard of care and breach of that standard.

II. THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY DENIED DSS'S MOTIONS FOR A NEW TRIAL ABSOLUTE OR NEW TRIAL *NISI REMITTITUR*.

A. The lower court correctly submitted the SCTCA immunity defenses to the jury at DSS's request.

DSS argues that the lower court erred in charging the jury on the SCTCA immunity defenses and that this entitles it to a new trial absolute. (Br. of App. pp. 21-22). This argument fails for at least two independent reasons.

First, DSS does not cite to any legal authority that says the issue of immunity defenses is solely a matter of law for the court. (Br. of App. pp. 21-22). "When a party provides no legal authority regarding a particular argument, the argument is abandoned and the court will not address the merits of the issue." *Equivest Fin., LLC v. Ravenel*, 422 S.C. 499, 506, 812 S.E.2d 438, 441 (Ct. App. 2018). DSS abandoned the argument, and the Court should not address the merits of it.

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